In the
Supreme Court of Ohio

BRIAN CALDWELL, ET AL.,	:	Case No. 2023-0809
	:	
Appellants,	:	On Appeal from the
	:	Marion County
v.	:	Court of Appeals,
	:	Third Appellate District
WHIRLPOOL CORP.,	:	
	:	Court of Appeals
Appellee.	:	Case No. 9-22-61

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANT
OHIO BUREAU OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION

CHELSEA F. RUBIN (0086853)
Philip J. Fulton Law Office
89 East Nationwide Blvd., Suite 300
Columbus, Ohio 43215
614-224-3838
614-224-3933 fax
chelsea@fultonlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant
Brian Caldwell

MARK S. BARNES (0064647)
ROBERT L. SOLT, IV (0087954)
Bugbee & Conkle, LLP
405 Madison Avenue, Suite 1300
Toledo, Ohio 43604
419-244-6788
419-244-7145 fax
mbarnes@bugbeelawyers.com

INTRODUCTION

Brian Caldwell did everything right in seeking workers'-compensation coverage for an "additional condition" that he said arose from an earlier, recognized claim. No one disputes that he timely filed an administrative request for such coverage, triggering review before the Industrial Commission. That body has continuing jurisdiction for five years after a last medical or compensation payment to modify an award to cover additional conditions. R.C. 4123.52. And no one disputes that, after he was unsuccessful before the Commission, he timely filed his appeal to a common pleas court under R.C. 4123.512 to challenge the Commission's order and obtain a court declaration of his right to participate in the system for that additional condition. So the court should have reached the merits of his claim of entitlement to coverage for an additional condition.

But the court threw out his case, without reaching the merits, because, it said, it was too late—not that it was *filed* too late, but that the court no longer had time to decide it. The common pleas court said a clock had run out on his claim—not a clock requiring Caldwell to do anything, but a ticking clock that required *the court* to resolve his claim before it ran out. Both that court and the Third District said that R.C. 4123.52's five-year limit on the *Commission's* continuing jurisdiction means that administrative clock keeps ticking in the background even after the action moves to court. So if *courts* do not resolve a case fast enough, the *claimant* loses. That reasoning and result are wrong, as a matter of statute, fairness, and common sense. The Court should reverse that mistake.

Specifically, the Court should explain that R.C. 4123.52 sets only an *administrative* time limit on Commission power, and nothing in that statute controls the timing in court. Further, R.C. 4123.512, which governs a common-pleas court's jurisdiction and substantive review of a claim, does not mandate following the earlier administrative clock. To the contrary, R.C. 4123.512(G) expressly provides that a later court decision favoring a claimant will be treated "as if" the Commission had reached that result, thus relating back in both substance and time to direct the Commission to declare coverage and award benefits to a claimant like Caldwell.

That result is further confirmed by the rest of the statutory scheme, and by the General Assembly's admonition for courts to read statutes to reach reasonable results. Nowhere else in Ohio law does a statute tell a party that his claim will get thrown out if he cannot somehow make a court decide fast enough to meet some statutory deadline. And *this* Ohio law does not do that, either. The General Assembly, not Kafka, wrote this scheme.

Because the court below was wrong, and because Caldwell played by the rules, the Court should reverse.

STATEMENT

A. Ohio law allows injured workers, after receiving workers'-compensation coverage, to seek coverage for “additional conditions” through both the administrative process and court appeals.

The Ohio workers'-compensation system includes multiple steps to resolve whether a worker claiming a workplace injury will receive any form of workers' compensation, or what form of compensation (e.g., medical payments for treatment, or compensation for time lost from work, or temporary or permanent disability in part or totally). Those many steps, whether for an initial claim after an injury, or for “additional conditions” that later arise from the same injury, fall under three basic stages. First, a claim is reviewed by either the employer, if the employer is self-insured, or by the Bureau, if the employer participates in the Bureau’s “State Fund.” Second, a claim can be reviewed by an administrative process under the independent Industrial Commission. Finally, either a claimant or an employer can appeal to the courts regarding the claimant’s right to participate in the system.

Relevant here, a claimant who has already been found entitled to compensation, and has received some form of benefits, may seek coverage of an “additional condition”—a medical condition that arises from the same injury for which the claimant received coverage. A worker seeking recognition of an additional condition starts with his employer, if it is self-insured, or with the Bureau, if not, and that stage is not at issue here.

A claimant has a time limit for requesting additional-condition coverage to be added to an existing claim, and that request is resolved administratively by the Industrial Commission, which may do so up to five years from the time of the last relevant payment. Specifically, that limit is framed in terms of a limit on the Industrial Commission's continuing jurisdiction to grant additional conditions, set by R.C. 4123.52. That statute, which has been repeatedly amended, said this in the version that applied to Caldwell:

(A) *The jurisdiction of the industrial commission and the authority of the administrator of workers' compensation over each case is continuing, and the commission may make such modification or change with respect to former findings or orders with respect thereto, as, in its opinion is justified. No modification or change nor any finding or award in respect of any claim shall be made with respect to disability, compensation, dependency, or benefits, after five years from the date of injury in the absence of the payment of medical benefits under this chapter or in the absence of payment of compensation under section 4123.57, 4123.58, or division (A) or (B) of section 4123.56 of the Revised Code or wages in lieu of compensation in a manner so as to satisfy the requirements of section 4123.84 of the Revised Code, in which event the modification, change, finding, or award shall be made within five years from the date of the last payment of compensation or from the date of death, nor unless written notice of claim for the specific part or parts of the body injured or disabled has been given as provided in section 4123.84 or 4123.85 of the Revised Code. The commission shall not make any modification, change, finding, or award which shall award compensation for a back period in excess of two years prior to the date of filing application therefor.*

R.C. 4123.52(A) (2011 version, later amended in 2020, 2023) (emphases added). Within the Industrial Commission stage, a request for an additional condition can go through three steps—review by a district hearing officer, the staff hearing officer, and the Commission itself.

If either party is unhappy with a Commission order, “[t]he claimant or the employer may appeal an order of the industrial commission” to the courts. R.C. 4123.512(A). Such appeals are a hybrid between a typical administrative appeal and a typical cause of action filed directly in common-pleas court. The appeals follow some rules set by workers'-compensation statutes, and others set by the Civil Rules.

Either party has sixty days to appeal, measured from the last step at the Commission. “[T]he appellant shall file the notice of appeal with a court of common pleas within sixty days after the date of the receipt of the order appealed from or the date of receipt of the order of the commission refusing to hear an appeal of a staff hearing officer's decision” *Id.* That ensures jurisdiction: “The filing of the notice of the appeal with the court is the only act required to perfect the appeal.” *Id.* Although the appeal flows from a Commission decision, the statute makes the Bureau's Administrator (not the Commission) an automatic party. R.C. 4123.512(B). After those statutory requirements are met, the claimant files a complaint, and the Civil Rules take over from there. R.C. 4123.512(D).

The common-pleas court then resolves whether the claimant has a “right to participate” in the system for the additional condition, just as common-pleas courts decide whether a claimant's initial claim is valid. *Id.* Parties are entitled to jury trials if the case goes to trial. *Id.* The court does not decide payment amounts; it just declares the right to participate for the initial claim or additional condition, and returns the case to the administrative process to take it from there:

(G) If the finding of the court or the verdict of the jury is in favor of the claimant's right to participate in the fund, *the commission* and the administrator *shall thereafter proceed in the matter of the claim as if the judgment were the decision of the commission*, subject to the power of modification provided by section 4123.52 of the Revised Code.

R.C. 4123.512(G) (emphases added). As with any case, parties unhappy with a common-pleas court decision may appeal to a court of appeals and to this Court. R.C. 4123.512(E).

B. Brian Caldwell timely asked the Industrial Commission to recognize an additional condition, and after losing, appealed to court.

Brian Caldwell, Plaintiff-Appellant here, was injured in the course of his employment with Defendant-Appellee Whirlpool. He was injured on March 23, 2015. App.Op. ¶2. His claim for workers' compensation was allowed, and his last payment of any type under this claim was a permanent-partial-disability payment on January 11, 2017. *Id.*

Caldwell timely sought an allowance for an additional condition less than three years after his last relevant payment, filing his request on December 5, 2019. *Caldwell v. Whirlpool Corp.*, 2023-Ohio-1530 (3d Dist.) ("App.Op."), ¶3. Both the district hearing officer and staff hearing officer denied that request, and the full Commission declined further review. *Id.* The Commission's denial was issued on April 17, 2020, and mailed April 21, 2020. Compl. ¶9.

Caldwell then timely appealed to the Marion County Court of Common Pleas, filing on June 16, 2020. *Id.*; Notice of Appeal in 2020-CV-0231, June 16, 2020. (The appellate opinion mistakenly says June 19, but the time-stamped documents show June 16, and even the later date would not change things. *See* App.Op. ¶3.) That date was within the

sixty-day period to appeal from receipt of the Commission’s denial. That June 2020 appeal was also within five years of Caldwell’s last payment, which, again, was in January 2017. So about three-and-a-half years had passed from his last payment to his appeal to the common-pleas court.

Caldwell voluntarily dismissed his appeal on April 30, 2021, and refiled less than a year later, on April 20, 2022. App.Op. ¶¶3–4.

Whirlpool then moved for summary judgment on May 27, 2022, arguing that Caldwell’s claim had “expired” because it was now more than five years since Caldwell’s last payment. *Id.* That five-year period, it said, ran out on January 11, 2022. *Id.*

C. The trial and appeals courts both said that Caldwell’s claim expired after he had appealed, because, they said, the administrative time limit can run out even when a claim is in court.

The common-pleas court granted Whirlpool’s summary-judgment motion. App.Op. ¶4; Judgment Entry (Marion Cty. Com. Pl. Oct. 3, 2022) (“Com.Pl.Op.”). The court, adopting a magistrate’s decision and rejecting Caldwell’s objections, agreed with Whirlpool that the claim had “expire[d].” Com.Pl.Op. at 8. It said that R.C. 4123.52’s five-year clock keeps running while a case was pending in court, such that if it ran out before a court ruled in a claimant’s favor, the whole claim died, including the pending additional-condition request. *Id.*

The common-pleas court explained that its decision was mandated by a then-recent Third District decision, *Chatfield v. Whirlpool Corp.*, 2021-Ohio-4365, which had ruled

similarly the year before. *Id.* at 1, 8 (citing *Chatfield*). The common-pleas court further reasoned that R.C. 4123.52's five-year time limit operated more like a statute of repose than like a statute of limitations. *Id.* at 3. It asked the appeals court to review that point. *Id.* at 4.

The court acknowledged that its judgment seemed "fundamentally unfair" to Caldwell or any similar claimant to "lose a case" merely because the Court did not act fast enough, even after "the injured worker . . . took the steps necessary" to advance the case. *Id.* at 5. But, said the Court, a claimant "would be prudent to seek a schedule that allows for" enough time to have a case resolved, by filing far in advance of the statutory deadline for filing with the Commission. *Id.*

The Third District affirmed, likewise relying on its own earlier *Chatfield* decision. App.Op. ¶6 (citing *Chatfield*, 2021-Ohio-4365, ¶15). It cited *Chatfield* for the idea that "R.C. 4123.52 . . . essentially places a statute of limitations on workers' compensation claims." *Id.* (citing *Chatfield*, 2021-Ohio-4365, ¶10). It said that under *Chatfield*'s reading of R.C. 4123.52, "Caldwell's claim had expired by operation of law by January 11, 2022," that is, five years from his last payment, and it did not matter that he had filed administratively and even appealed to court by that date. *See Id.* at ¶13.

The Third District also explained that Caldwell's use of the savings statute was irrelevant. *Id.* at ¶¶14–15. It did not matter whether he had a year from dismissal to refile, because all that mattered was that the Commission's administrative clock ran out

before Caldwell could succeed in obtaining a court victory and resulting coverage; it did not matter that his filing or re-filing were perfectly timely. *See id.*

Caldwell appealed to this Court, which granted review on both of Caldwell's propositions of law. *08/29/23 Case Announcements*, 2023-Ohio-2972. The Court then granted the Bureau's motion to realign as an Appellant. *11/3/23 Case Announcements* #3, 2023-Ohio-4016. As that motion explained, the Bureau agrees with Caldwell that he deserves his day in court to have his case decided on the merits, but it does not endorse his challenge to the Commission's rejection of his request for additional-condition coverage.

ARGUMENT

Caldwell's two propositions of law are both correct. R.C. 4123.52's five-year limit for additional-condition coverage is for *administrative* requests that go to the Commission, and that clock does not affect a common-pleas court's jurisdiction under R.C. 4123.512. Separately, Caldwell validly filed on time to start the case, and he then validly re-filed under the savings statute. Consequently, the trial court and Third District were both wrong to throw out Caldwell's procedurally valid claim.

Ohio Bureau of Workers' Compensation's Proposition of Law No. 1:

The five-year limitation under R.C. 4123.52 does not apply to an R.C. 4123.512 appeal.

Caldwell filed his claim on time at the Commission, and it did not "expire" after he had already filed his appeal to court. That is shown by the plain statutory text, reinforced by other statutes and case law, and by common sense. Parties must be diligent to

protect their *own* rights, but parties' timelines do not run out because a court or other party does not do their part fast enough. The appeals court's contrary view was mistaken, so this Court should reverse, and give Caldwell his day in court.

- A. R.C. 4123.52's five-year deadline for administrative jurisdiction applies only to an injured worker's obligation to file administratively on time, and the clock does not "run out" or extinguish a claim that is already on appeal in the courts under R.C. 4123.512.
 - 1. The plain text of R.C. 4123.52 governs only the Commission's jurisdiction, not the courts', and nothing in R.C. 4123.512 sets an expiration date on a timely filed claim.

This case, like all cases of statutory construction, "begins with the statutory text, and ends there as well if the text is unambiguous." *State v. Bortree*, 170 Ohio St. 3d 310, 2022-Ohio-3890, ¶10. In this tale of two statutes, both support Caldwell: R.C. 4123.52 governs only the Commission, not the court, in setting a five-year deadline, while R.C. 4123.512 nowhere tells a court to throw a case out based on that administrative clock.

Start with R.C. 4123.52. As quoted above (at 3) (again, using the then-applicable version), the five-year period for adding conditions is stated in terms of the Commission's continuing jurisdiction. "The jurisdiction of the industrial commission . . . over each case is continuing," and the Commission "may make such modification . . . as, in its opinion is justified." *Id.* But "[n]o modification . . . shall be made" after five years from an injury if no relevant benefits are paid, or, if benefits have been paid, "the modification, change, finding, or award shall be made within five years from the date of the last payment of

compensation.” *Id.* That is it: The Commission is told to make any changes within five years after the last relevant payment, and after that, its continuing jurisdiction expires.

Nothing about that time limit, on its own terms, tells a court to do anything. True, if the Commission tried to act administratively on a new request after its jurisdiction expired, *that* would be an error, and a reviewing court could address it. But that would occur only if the *Commission* tried to act administratively—that is, absent a court order authorizing it—after the clock had run, by, for example, accepting a too-late request and trying to grant it. *See Perez v. Univ. Hosp. Health Sys.*, 2012-Ohio-5896, ¶19 (8th Dist.).

A common-pleas court’s jurisdiction is separately governed by R.C. 4123.512, which is straightforward in providing the court’s own jurisdictional rules. An appeal must be filed within sixty days of the last relevant Commission decision, and that is all. R.C. 4123.512(A). “The filing of the notice of the appeal with the court is the *only act required to perfect the appeal.*” *Id.* (emphasis added); *Fisher v. Mayfield*, 30 Ohio St. 3d 8, syl. ¶1, 11 (1987). The *only* act. Jurisdiction is then “perfect[ed]”—not partially perfected, and not requiring anything else. Nothing tells the court to keep an eye on any still-continuing clock.

Other statutes and this Court’s guidance tell a Court to resolve all such workers’-compensation claims *promptly*, whether for allowance of an initial claim or for additional-condition coverage, but none set a time limit for resolution. Appeals under R.C. 4123.512 “shall be preferred over all other civil actions” on the docket except election cases. R.C.

4123.512(I). To highlight that, this Court’s case-reporting form requires courts to track statistics regarding workers’ compensation appeals against other case categories. *See* Superintendent Rules 37, 39, and Statistical Form A; *Ferguson v. State*, 151 Ohio St. 3d 265, 2017-Ohio-7844, ¶37. But no binding law requires a court to keep an eye on some still-ticking administrative clock over at the Commission, and to wrap up a case before that alarm goes off.

Thus, an employer cannot challenge a trial court’s *statutory jurisdiction* to hear a case, if it was filed on time, based on either the plain text of R.C. 4123.52 or R.C. 4123.512. Even if the administrative clock “runs out” when a case is in court (and it does not), it is inaccurate to say that the claimant did not file in time administratively, or to say that a claimant did not file in time at the court. If an employer had any such deadline-based theory at all, it should be analyzed as a form of *mootness*. That is, an employer’s argument would be this: “As of today (after the clock runs), the Commission would not be able to give relief even if the court rules for the claimant, therefore, the court can give no effective remedy, so the case is moot.”

But any mootness approach would also be mistaken, for, as shown in the next section, R.C. 4123.512 also accounts for what happens after a case returns to the Commission.

2. **R.C. 4123.512(G) provides that court decisions favoring workers will relate back as if the court's judgment were the Industrial Commission's decision, and that relation back covers the timing of the decision as well.**

While R.C. 4123.512 does not tell courts to resolve cases in time to meet the administrative text, it does include a provision that governs the return of the case to the agency after a court finds in favor of a claimant. Part (G) says:

If the finding of the court or the verdict of the jury is in favor of the claimant's right to participate in the fund, the commission and the administrator shall thereafter proceed in the matter of the claim *as if the judgment were the decision of the commission*, subject to the power of modification provided by section 4123.52 of the Revised Code.

R.C. 4123.512(G). That "as if" provision empowers—and directs—the Commission to implement the Court's decision by recognizing the additional condition and awarding any benefits flowing from that recognition. In other words, the statute expressly contemplates that the court will return a case to the Commission, and it tells the Commission to proceed "as if" the court's judgment had been its own.

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