IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

Brian P. Caldwell, : OHIO SUPREME CASE NO. 2023-0809
Appellants, et al., :
-vs- : ON APPEAL FROM THE MARION
Whirlpool Corporation, : COUNTY COURT OF APPEALS,
Appellee. : THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT
: COURT OF APPEALS
: CASE NO. 9-22-61
:

APPELLEE WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION'S MERIT BRIEF

Mark S. Barnes, Esq. (0064647)
Robert L. Solt, IV, Esq. (0087954)
BUGBEE & CONKLE, LLP
405 Madison Avenue, Suite 1900
Toledo, Ohio 43604
Telephone: (419) 244-6788
Fax: (419) 244-7145
mbarnes@bugbeelawyers.com
rsolt4@bugbeelawyers.com

Attorneys for Appellee
Whirlpool Corporation

Chelsea F. Rubin, Esq. (0086853)
Philip J. Fulton Law Office
89 East Nationwide Blvd., Suite 300

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

ARGUMENT

Proposition of Law No. 1: The Five-Year Limitation Under R.C. 4123.52 Does Not Apply to a R.C. 4123.512 Appeal.

A. Neither The Trial Court Nor The Court Of Appeals Determined That Their Jurisdiction Over R.C. 4123.512 Appeals Was Mitigated By Applying The Statutory Mandate In R.C. 4123.52.

Appellant argues the five-year statute of limitations does not apply to court appeals. The Bureau makes a similar argument, articulated a different way. The Bureau argues that R.C. 4123.52 controls the Commission's jurisdiction, but, not the court's jurisdiction under R.C. 4123.512. The issue for the court is not whether R.C. 4123.52 operates to intrude on the trial court's jurisdiction. The trial court clearly had jurisdiction over disc protrusion and/or bulges at L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1. *Ward v. Kroger Co.*, 2005-Ohio-3560, ¶ 10, 106 Ohio St. 3d 35, 38, 830 N.E.2d 1155, 1158. The salient issue is whether the trial court and the court of appeals properly invoked the mandate of R.C. 4123.52 to grant judgment in favor of Whirlpool.

Neither the trial court nor the court of appeals determined R.C. 4123.52 deprived them of jurisdiction over the court appeal. The trial court and the court of appeals found that Appellant could not prove the essential elements of his claim because the claim expired under R.C. 4123.52. As the court is aware, on summary judgment, where the plaintiff fails to produce evidence supporting the essential elements of his claim, summary judgment is appropriate. *Welco Industries, Inc. v. Applied CLS*, 67 Ohio St.3d 344, 617 N.E.2d 1129 (1993). This is also true in workers' compensation litigation. As this Court has held: "the de novo nature of an R.C. 4123.512 appeal proceeding puts at issue all

elements of a claimant's right to participate in the workers' compensation fund." *Bennett v. Admir.*, *Ohio Bur. of Workers' Comp.*, 2012-Ohio-5639, ¶ 2, 134 Ohio St. 3d 329, 330, 982 N.E.2d 666, 667; see *Youghiogheny & Ohio Coal Co. v. Mayfield*, 11 Ohio St.3d 70, 71 464 N.E.2d 133 (1984). Invariably, an essential element of the right to participate in the workers' compensation law is whether the underlying claim remains viable. With respect to addressing Appellant's and the Bureau's "jurisdiction" argument, a brief examination of the history of R.C. 4123.512 and R.C. 4123.52 is instructive.

R.C. 4123.512 and its predecessor statutes had their inception on May 31, 1911. 102 Ohio Laws 531, granted claimants the right to appeal final decisions of the State Liability Board of Awards (now the Industrial Commission) involving the right to participate in the workers' compensation fund to Ohio's common pleas courts. See *Snyder v. State Liability Bd. Of Awards*, 94 Ohio St. 342, 345, 114 N.E. 268 (1916). In 1913, the appeal statute¹ became G.C. 1465-90, later R.C. 4123.519, then ultimately R.C. 4123.512. While the language of this appeal statute has undergone various amendments in the last 100 plus years, the overriding purpose of what is now codified as R.C. 4123.512, is to provide a remedy in Ohio courts for claimants and employers who have lost an allowance issue in a claim before the Industrial Commission after exhausting their administrative remedies.

R.C. 4123.52 also had its inception on May 31, 1911, and since then, the workers' compensation law has encompassed a statutory provision setting forth the continuing

¹ Because R.C. 4123.52 and R.C. 4123.512 have been in effect in some form since 1911, in Ohio Laws, the General Code of Ohio, and the Revised Code, Whirlpool may refer to such statutes as the "continuing jurisdiction statute," i.e. R.C. 4123.52 and the "appeal statute," i.e. R.C. 4123.512.

jurisdiction of the Industrial Commission over claims. *Snyder* at 345. In 1931, the General Assembly amended the continuing jurisdiction statute (G.C. 1465-86 (103 Ohio Laws 88)) to prescribe time limitations for the Commission's continuing jurisdiction. *Sechler v. Krouse*, 56 Ohio St. 2d 185, 187, 383 N.E.2d 572 (1978)(describing the history of R.C. 4123.52). Under the first time limitation set forth in G.C. 1465-86, the Commission's continuing jurisdiction lasted ten years from the last payment of compensation or benefits, or if no benefits were paid, from the date of the injury. *Id.* Over the decades, the continuing jurisdiction statute has undergone numerous iterations and has been encompassed in R.C. 4123.52 for the better part of five decades.

In *Snyder*, this Court examined the interplay between the appeal statute and the continuing jurisdiction statute. Because the State Liability Board of Awards had granted the claimant compensation in the claim, the Court found the Board had jurisdiction over the claim under G.C. 1465-86, the continuing jurisdiction statute. At the outset of the claim, the Board awarded compensation to the claimant, thereby granting him the right to participate in the fund. Thereafter, the Board made a further award of compensation for hospital service, but, then found the award was made in error and determined no further compensation was due to the claimant. The claimant appealed this order to the common pleas court. However, because the claimant appealed an order which did not involve his right to participate in the fund, this Court held the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the appeal under G.C. 1465-90, yet the Board maintained jurisdiction over the claim under G.C. 1465-86. *Id.* at 348-349.

In *Perkins v. Indus. Comm.*, 106 Ohio St. 233, 140 N.E. 134 (1922), this Court held that the Commission is divested of its continuing jurisdiction if it renders an order which amounts to a final disposition of the claim and which final disposition has been appealed to the common pleas court. The *Perkins* Court focused its holding on the amended language of G.C. 1465-90, which added the words “or continue to participate.”

The 2011 version of R.C. 4123.52 applies to Appellant’s injury date (March 23, 2015), and provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(A) The jurisdiction of the industrial commission and the authority of the administrator of workers' compensation over each case is continuing, and the commission may make such modification or change with respect to former findings or orders with respect thereto, as, in its opinion is justified. No modification or change nor any finding or award in respect of any claim shall be made with respect to disability, compensation, dependency, or benefits, after five years from the date of injury in the absence of the payment of medical benefits under this chapter or in the absence of payment of compensation under section 4123.57, 4123.58, or division (A) or (B) of section 4123.56 of the Revised Code or wages in lieu of compensation in a manner so as to satisfy the requirements of section 4123.84 of the Revised Code, in which event the modification, change, finding, or award shall be made within five years from the date of the last payment of compensation or from the date of death, nor unless written notice of claim for the specific part or parts of the body injured or disabled has been given as provided in section 4123.84 or 4123.85 of the Revised Code. The commission shall not make any modification, change, finding, or award which shall award compensation for a back period in excess of two years prior to the date of filing application therefor. (Emphasis added)

In *Sechler*, decided in 1978, this Court described R.C. 4123.52 as a statute of limitations, applying equally to all workers. *Id.* at 189. The *Sechler* Court unequivocally held that the claimant alone is responsible for invoking the continuing jurisdiction of the Commission for additional compensation. *Id.* at 190 (citing *Rummel v. Flowers*, 28 Ohio St.2d 230, 236 277 N.E. 2d 422 (1972)). The *Sechler* Court also addressed the unique

nature of the statute of limitations in R.C. 4123.52 as one in which a claimant can seek change, but, not as an eligibility requirement for benefits. *Id.*

Later, in *Collinsworth v. Western Electric Co.*, 63 Ohio St.3d 268, 586 N.E.2d 1071 (1992) this Court grappled with the manner in which R.C. 4123.52 can be tolled. The Court summarized the meaning of the limitations period in R.C. 4123.52 as follows:

This statute establishes the continuing jurisdiction of the commission. The first sentence states the general rule that the Industrial Commission has continuing jurisdiction over each case and may modify its former determination as it deems justified. The second sentence contains three limitations periods affecting the continuing jurisdiction of the commission. First, there is a six-year limitation for medical-expense-only claims, which runs from the date of injury. Second, there is a ten-year limitation for disability claims, which runs from the last payment of compensation. Finally, there is a two-year limitation for retroactive awards.

Id. at 270. Further, the Court held the payment of medical expenses tolled the ten-year statute of limitations in effect at that time. *Id.* at Syllabus.

In 2003, this Court gave more meaning to the purpose and effect of R.C. 4123.52 in *State ex rel. Romans v. Elder Beerman Stores Corp.*, 100 Ohio St.3d 165, 2003-Ohio-5363, 797 N.E.2d 82. The specific issue before the Court was whether the lack of activity over a six-year period caused the claim to “lapse.” Acknowledging the two limitations periods in the statute, the Court wrote that claims for which there has been no activity over the six and ten-year limitations period for the Commission’s continuing jurisdiction in effect at the time are “deemed fatally inactive.” *Id.* at ¶ 9. The Court explained the six and ten-year limitations period for the Commission’s continuing jurisdiction as follows: “[t]he other statutes of limitations are directed at dormant claims, permitting finality through extinguishment after a set period of inactivity.” *Id.* at ¶ 8 (Emphasis added). In

other words, this Court interpreted R.C. 4123.52 (A) to contain a discrete statute of limitations, setting forth the criteria for the life of a claim.

Since *State ex rel. Romans*, four courts of appeals have followed this Court's precedent in interpreting and applying R.C. 4123.52. In *Cocherl v. Ohio Dept. of Transp.*, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 06AP-1100, 2007-Ohio-3225, the Tenth Appellate District held If compensation and/or medical benefits are not paid within the applicable limitations period, then the claim expires. *Cocherl* held that because compensation and medical benefits had not been paid during the limitations period, the claimant's claim was "dead by operation of law." *Id.* at ¶30. And while the claimant may have believed it was inequitable when the court found his claim expired, the court cogently wrote: "th[e] court is bound by the statutory mandate of R.C. 4123.52. In *Williams v. Bur. of Workers' Comp.*, 12th Dist. Preble No. CA2013-09-006, 2014-Ohio-1889, ¶ 15, the Twelfth Appellate District held "the claim expires 'six years after the payment of medical benefits'" (citing *Cocherl*)(Emphasis added). In *Perez v. Univ. Hosp. Health Sys.*, 8th Dist. No. 98427, 2012-Ohio-5896, the 8th Appellate District followed *Sechler* in holding the claimant's claim expired because no medical benefits had been paid in accordance with the six-year statute of limitations. Finally, the Third Appellate District twice has granted Whirlpool summary judgment on the ground that the claims at issue expired by operation of law under the five-year statute of limitations in R.C. 4123.52, relying on *State ex rel. Romans*, *Sechler*, *Cocherl*, *Perez*, and *Williams, supra*, for the proposition that the claimant's claim expired by operation of law. See *Chatfield* at ¶ 14-15; Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Third Appellate District at ¶ 11-13.

Notably, there is no conflict among any of Ohio's appellate courts regarding the interpretation of R.C. 4123.52 as a statute of limitations, which establishes the Commission's continuing jurisdiction and the life of a workers' compensation claim. In addition, *Fulton, Ohio Workers' Compensation Law*, Section 5.5, at p. 185 (5th Ed. 2018) a treatise which this Court has cited in at least 20 cases as authoritative, recognizes the interpretation of R.C. 4123.52 in accordance with the above case law. In significant part, Fulton writes: “[t]he § 4123.52 statute of limitations applies to dormant claims and permits extinguishment of a claim at the end of prescribed period of inactivity.” Fulton Section 5.5 at 185, (citing *State ex rel. Romans*). Fulton continues as follows: “[t]he time limit governing continuing jurisdiction prescribed in R.C. § 4123.52 therefore operates as a statute of limitations. Once that period has expired, the Commission has no power to make any further finding, award, or order.” Fulton Section 5.6 at p. 186. Moreover, Fulton recognizes the only mechanism to toll the running of the limitations period in R.C. 4123.52 for claims arising after August 25, 2006 is the payment of compensation or medical expenses. Fulton, Section 5.6 at p. 187.

Implicit in the *Snyder* and *Perkins* decisions is that the continuing jurisdiction statute and the appeals statute may operate both separately or in conjunction with one another. In fact, such has been the case for over a century. It is well known, and requires no citation, that workers' compensation claims may involve multiple claims of injury, which can result in multiple allowances and disallowances within the same claim. Accordingly, a claimant may have an allowed claim, the administrative embodiment of the injuries for which he has the right to participate, over which the Commission has continuing

jurisdiction for the statutory limitations period in effect on the date of the original injury. Often, as is true in the case at bar, R.C. 4123.512 appeals involve requests for additional conditions invariably arising from the underlying claim. In such circumstances, there is effectively concurrent jurisdiction between the Commission and the common pleas court. The Commission maintains jurisdiction over conditions which are in the claim, but, not an allowance issue before the trial court; the trial court has jurisdiction over the appealed conditions, but, not the conditions previously allowed or yet to be determined by the Commission.

Appellant is correct that trial courts have “exclusive jurisdiction over workers’ compensation appeals. However, the trial courts do not have jurisdiction over the underlying claims. R.C. 4123.512 contemplates its interplay with R.C. 4123.52 in subsections (G) and (H), which sections address situations in which a right to participate issue may be pending in a common pleas court while the claim remains viable under the continuing jurisdiction of the Commission. Under subsection (H)(1), R.C. 4123.512 provides: “action filed in court in a case in which an award of compensation or medical benefits has been made shall not stay the payment of compensation or medical benefits under the award.” This means the Commission maintains jurisdiction over “extent of disability” issues regarding conditions pending in court. More importantly, R.C. 4123.512(G) specifically provides that jury verdicts in favor of claimants are “subject to the power of modification provided by section 4123.52 of the Revised Code.” In other words, determinations under R.C. 4123.512 are subjugated to the Commission’s power

to modify claims, which would include the expiration of the Commission's continuing jurisdiction and ultimately the expiration of the claim.

Considering the General Assembly enacted the continuing jurisdiction statute at the same time it enacted the appeal statute (1911), it can only be presumed the General Assembly intended both statutes to operate in conjunction, although each statute has a different purpose. As this Court previously has held, “[a] guiding principle of statutory interpretation is that the statute must be construed as a whole and each of its parts must be given effect so that they are compatible with each other and related enactments.”

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